I. APPELLANT'S STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Introduction

The core of this appeal is the extent to which the "right to rely"

element of a fraud claim and "reasonable reliance" apply in the context of

settlement of a healthcare personal injury case which was settled but

where the respondent nursing home Talbot falsified medical records which

minimized its liability. False laboratory reports for appellant Hawkins

were created using a "cut and paste" technique to fix blame on the

attending physician, then provided to appellant as part of her medical

records. In the course of litigation, the respondent nursing home gave

sworn testimonyin answeringinterrogatories that the false records

provided to appellant were true and correct.

Appellant relied on the false records in reaching a mediated

settlement ofher personal injury claims. The settlement agreement

included release language, but the scopeof the releasewas limitedby its

terms to personal injuryclaims stated in the complaint or relatedto

Hawkins diagnosis, care and treatment.

In subsequent litigation against Hawkins' attending physician, the

discrepancy between the false Talbot records given to Hawkins and the

actualmedical chart record kept by Talbot was discovered. Hawkins



obtained a declaration from the physician establishing that the records in

question were incorrect, retained a documents expert to confirm the "cut

and paste" technique used to alter the reports, and also personally

reviewed her original medical record on the Talbot site.

Following the investigation, Hawkins filed her action in the trial

court to set aside the settlement agreement and vacate the related order for

dismissal. In addition, Hawkins included a request for a declaratory

judgment that, if the trial court did not set aside the settlement, she could

pursue independent actions against Talbot based on the falsity of the

medical record. Talbot brought a CR (12)(b) motion to dismiss before

answering the Hawkins petition.

The trial court ignored the limiting language of the settlement

agreement and held that it barred Hawkins' claims in this action. The trial

court held that Hawkins declaratory judgment was barred by res judicata

and also found that it was "questionable, as a matter of law, whether

Plaintiff (Hawkins) had the right to rely on the alleged falsifications and

misrepresentations."

The trial court should not have condoned Talbot's perjury and

falsification of medical records. This Court should reverse and remand.



B. Assignment of Error

1. The trial court erred in ruling that the release language of the

settlement agreement in Hawkins personal injury case againstTalbotbars

Hawkins claims in this litigation.

2. The trial courterred in ruling that the Hawkins petition for

declaratoryjudgment was barred by the doctrineof res judicata.

3. The trial court erred by ruling that, as a matter of law, it is

questionable whether, as a matter of law, Hawkins had the right to rely on

the alleged falsifications and misrepresentations, citing to Kwiatkowski v.

Drews, 142 Wn. App. 463, ffll 30-35, review denied, 164 Wn.2d 1005

(2008).

C. Issues Presented

1. Did the trial court err in disregarding the standards of CR 12(b)

to dismiss Hawkins' claims herein?

2. Did the trial court err in disregarding the specific, limiting

language of the release provision of the settlement agreement and apply it

as a general release to dismiss Hawkins' claims?

3. Did the trial court err in sua sponte deciding the question of fact

as to whether or not the Hawkins' current claims were "related to" her



diagnosis, treatment and care at Talbot, denying Hawkins an evidentiary

hearing on the issue?

4. Did the trial court err in ruling that Hawkins claims, including

her action for declaratory judgment in this action were barred by the

doctrine of res judicata?

5. Did the trial court err in ruling, as a matter of law, that Hawkins

would not be able to establish a right to rely upon the falsified documents

and perjured discovery provided by Talbot, pursuant to the authority of

Kwiatkowski v. Drews, 142 Wn.App. 463, 176 P.3d 510 (2008)?

6. Is reversal and remand required, where the trial court has

erroneously dismissed an action in response to a CR 12(b) motion?

D. Statement of the Facts

(For purposes of convenience in this statement, Plaintiffs are

referred to as "Hawkins" and "Wilson"; Defendants collectively are

referred to as "Talbot". No disrespect is intended to any party.)

The Defendants EmPres Healthcare Management LLC (f.k.a.

Evergreen Healthcare Management LLC), and Evergreen at Talbot Road,

LLC , ("Talbot") own, manage, operate or otherwise control a skilled

nursing facility known as Talbot Center for Rehabilitation and Healthcare

at 4430 Talbot Road South, Renton, WA. ("Talbot Center") CP 2



In approximately mid-June of 2007, Hawkins underwent surgeryat

Valley Medical Center. Shortly afterher surgery, Hawkins developed an

infection which required further hospitalization at Valley Medical Center.

CP 3 On July 9, 2007, Hawkins was discharged from Valley Medical

Center directly to the Talbot Center with a diagnosis of MRSA infection

due to spinal fusion. Hawkins was to be given a combination of the

prescription antibiotics Gentamycin and Vancomycin to combat her

infection. CP 3

Hawkins' attending physician at Talbot Center was John Chen,

M.D. CP24 All medical charts and patient care records for Dr. Chen's

patients at Talbot were maintained by the Talbot staff. CP 24 He did not

maintain any separate charts or notes. CP 24

On July 13, 2007, Hawkins' lab work reported to Talbot revealed

"Vancomycin trough critically high at 18.7. Called MD." The next day

on the 14 , the Gentamycin peak showed a high result at 15.2. Also on

the 14th, Hawkins creatinine results were 2.3 (normal being considered 0.4

- 1.5). Despite these critically high lab results, Talbot continued to

administer Gentamycin and Vancomycin to Hawkins at the apparent

direction of Dr. Chen. CP 3

On July 29, Hawkins expressed a desire to go to the hospital but

was told that she would have to wait until Talbot Center could speak with

10



a physician. Dr. Chen approved the transfer to Valley Medical Center and

Hawkins was transported to Valley on the following day. CP 4; CP38

Hawkins' daughter, Wilson, was not informed that her mother had been

transferred to Valley Medical Center until she arrived at Talbot Center for

a visit that evening. CP 4 At that time, Wilson requested a complete copy

of Hawkins medical record from the Talbot staff, which was provided

after a lengthy wait directly to her husband, Greg Wilson, by employees or

agents of Talbot Center. CP 4

From that date, Wilson maintained possession of the record until it

was given to Hawkins attorney, Thomas Burke. CP 4 No changes or

additions were made to Ms. Hawkins' medical record while in the

possession of Ms. Wilson CP 4

On July 30, 2007, Hawkins was examined by emergency room

physicians at Valley Medical Center who diagnosed her with acute renal

failure due to gentamicin and/or vancomycin nephrotoxicity and acute

tubulonecrosis. Hawkins would spend approximately the next year and a

half treating symptoms that her doctors attributed to the overdose of

antibiotics and the resulting kidney failure. CP 4

1. Procedural History

These circumstances gave rise to litigation filed against Talbot in

the King County Superior Court, Cause No. 08-2-32455-9 KNT. CP 4
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The statement of facts in that complaint related solely to Hawkins

treatment with Gentamycin and Vancomycin. There are no facts alleged

regarding alteration or substitution ofmedical records, no allegations of

dishonesty, fraud or misrepresentation. CP 62-64

In that case, Hawkins and Wilson brought the following claims:

a. General Negligence CP 64

b. Statutory Negligence Violations of Federal Law CP 65

c. Statutory Negligence Violations of Ch. 74.34 RCW CP 66

d. Statutory Negligence Violations of Ch. 72.42 RCW and

WAC 388-97 CP 67

e. Statutory Negligence Violations of Ch. 70.129 RCW CP

67

f. Medical Negligence CP 68

g. Informed Consent CP 68

h. Corporate Negligence CP 68

i. Respondeat Superior CP68

j. Consumer Protection Act CP68

There were no claims for failure to keep accurate records,

falsifying medical records, dishonesty, fraud or misrepresentation. CP 64-

68

12



In that litigation, Plaintiffs submitted interrogatories and requests

for production to Talbot Center for a complete copy of Ms. Hawkins

medical records and charts along with other documents. CP5 Talbot

Center responded under oath that all medical records had been provided to

Ms. Hawkins directly by Talbot Center. CP5 Throughout the litigation,

Hawkins and Wilson relied upon the representation ofTalbot Center and

its attorney that the medical records provided to her by Talbot were

complete and accurate. CP5

That case was settled by the parties on July 29, 2010 by a written

settlement agreement. CP4 That agreement contained the following

language for Hawkins' release of claims against Talbot:

".. .from all claims and causes of action, which may ever be

asserted by the undersigned, her executors, administrators, successors,

assigns or others, whether such claims or causes of action are presently

known or unknown, which in any way arise out of the facts stated in the

Amended Complaint in King County Superior Court, Cause No. 08-2-

324559, or which in any way involve the diagnoses, care and treatment of

Jeanne Hawkins during her stay at Talbot Center for Rehabilitation and

Healthcare from July 9, 2007 to July 30, 2007." CP 17 "This release is

intended to cover any and all future injuries, damages or losses not known

to the parties to this agreement, but which may later develop, or be
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discovered in connection with the above referenced diagnoses, care and

treatment, or failure to diagnose or treat." CP 17 "The undersigned

acknowledges that she has accepted the above-referenced consideration as

full compensation for any and all injuries, damages and losses (past,

present and future, known or unknown), which were or ever could be

claimed in connection with the above referenced diagnosis, care and

treatment, or failure to diagnose or treat." CP 18 "The undersigned

warrants that no promise or inducement has been offered except as herein

set forth and that this release is executed without reliance upon any

statement or representation by the Parties Released or their representatives

concerning the nature and extent of the injuries, and/or damages, and/or

legal liability therefor." CP 18

The document further provided that the Release and Settlement

Agreement "shall be construedand interpretedaccordingto the laws of the

State ofWashington." CP 20

One of the factors considered by Hawkins in negotiating and

accepting the settlement involving Talbot was the comparative negligence

of Talbot and the negligence ofher attending physician, Dr. Chen. CP5

The records originally provided by Talbot concerning Hawkins care

indicated that Dr. Chen had failed to monitor laboratory test results and

failed to discontinue highly toxic medication that she was receiving. CP5
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One of the defenses that Talbot was asserting was that Talbot staff was

simply following Dr. Chen's physician's orders. CP5

After the lawsuit with Talbot had settled, Hawkins filed a lawsuit

against Dr. Chen. That action was filed in the King County Superior

Court, Cause No. 10-2-25255-0 KNT. CP5 As part of discovery in that

litigation, Dr. Chen's defense attorney requested and obtained copies of

the Hawkins medical records from Talbot Center. CP 5

At that point, Ms. Hawkins did not obtain additional copies of her

medical records as she still had possession ofher chart from the Talbot

litigation. CP5

At the mandatory mediation on November 11, 2011, it was

discovered that the records obtained by Wilson, directly from the Talbot

Rehabilitation Center in August of 2007 were not identical to the records

provided to Dr. Chen's attorney by Talbot in discovery. CP 5 Moreover,

there were material differences between the two sets of records which

significantly affected the facts relied on in Hawkins' settlement with

Talbot. CP6

On July 25, 2012, Dr. Chen executed a declaration stating that the

copy of the medical records provided to Hawkins was not accurate and did

not contain the information and orders that he had actually provided to

Talbot. CP 6 These Hawkins documents included a lab report dated July
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24, 2007 reporting "HIGH" Creatinine which bears a handwritten note

"O.K. John Chen" CP36 The copy of that lab report, but dated July 23,

2007 provided to Dr. Chen's attorney by Talbot has a handwritten note

directingTalbot to stop administering the antibiotics, push fluids and

recheck Hawkins'blood levels in 3 days. CP 34 A physician's order of

July 23 repeated his instruction to stop administering the antibiotics.

CP28

Dr. Chen denied making the note on the July 24 report, because

Hawkins blood level was not normal or "O.K." CP 25 He did not know

how or why that document was created or became a part of Hawkins

medical record. CP28

After confirmation of the discrepancies between the two sets of

medical records by Dr. Chen, Wilson reviewed her mother's original

medical records on site at Talbot in October 2012. She confirmed that the

records sent to Dr. Chen's attorney were different than the records she

received. CP 6 Specifically, the records provided to Dr. Chen indicated

that on July 23, 2007, Dr. Chen had ordered the stop of IV Vancomycin

and Gentamycin and to push fluids in response to abnormal lab results.

CP 6 In contrast, the July 24 record Wilson was provided by Talbot

indicated that Dr. Chen simply wrote "ok" in response to the same lab

results. CP6
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Portions of Dr. Chen's true record had either been omitted or was

purposefully altered when Wilson was provided a copy of her mother's

medical records on August 2, 2007 at Talbot Center. CP6 When

examined the "O.K. John Chen" entries on each of the documents, it was

found that the slight deviations that exist in the natural variation of writing

are not present in the "O.K. John Chen" entries. CP 99

There are significant similarities duplicated in the entries in the

records. The writing and the background noise can be overlayed and are in

alignment. It was determined that the entries share a common source and

were mechanically or electronically cut from a source document and

pasted onto the intended documents. CP99

Although this particular Dr. Chen record was present upon

Wilson's request to look at Hawkins' records on October 18, 2012 - well

after the lawsuit with Talbot had already been settled, an altered page had

been substituted and provided to her in 2007. CP6 The records given to

Ms. Hawkins were willfully and intentionally changed, altered or falsified

to make it appear that Dr. Chen was primarily negligent in the case, when

in fact it was the staff at Talbot who did not follow his instructions for Ms.

Hawkins care. CP6

Ms. Hawkins' attorney drafted a letter to Talbot on December 20,

2012 outlining the discrepancies within the records and requestinga new

17



mediation process. CP 7 Talbot's response dated January 29, 2013 did

not deny that there were discrepancies. Instead, their response indicated

that the discrepancies were "innocent and immaterial". CP 7

Because of Talbot's refusal to mediate these claims, Hawkins filed

this lawsuit. Hawkins brought claims for fraud and misrepresentation

based on the falsified records that were provided by Talbot and which

were relied on by Hawkins. CP 7, 8. Based on Talbot's fraud or

misrepresentation, Hawkins also brought claims to cancel the settlement

agreement and vacate the order of dismissal. CP 8,9

In addition and in the alternative, should the trial court not cancel

the settlement, Hawkins's petition included a declaratory judgment action

to establish that the settlement agreement did not apply to independent

causes of action based solely upon the falsified records. CP 9 These

claims included action for breach of federal and state laws, including

many of the same statutes and regulations from the first Hawkins/Talbot

litigation. CP 10

Before answering the petition, Talbot brought a motion to dismiss

under CR 12(b). CP 43 In the motion, Talbot alleged that Hawkins was

merely "seeking to re-litigate the same personal injury claim..." CP 43

The motion argued that Hawkins' fraud claim must be dismissed because

18



she had no "right to rely" as a matter of law on the truthfulness of Talbot's

interrogatory answers. CP 47

Themotion relied heavily on Kwiatkowski v. Drews, 142 Wn.App.

463, 176P.3d 510 (2008) as authority for the propositionthat Hawkins

was barred as a matterof law from asserting that she had a "right to rely"

on Talbot's representations. CP 48, 49 The motion further argued that

the settlement agreement released any and all causes of action against

Talbot, including any based on the falsified records. CP 53, 54

Hawkins responded to the motion by alleging that the

Kwiatkowski case was distinguished from this case on its facts and the

law. CP 89, 90 Hawkins also argued that the motion should be denied

because the settlement agreement was not a general release, was limited in

its scope and did not apply to the facts and claims in this case. CP 95, 96

After hearing argument on the motion on December 19, 2014, the

trial court granted the Talbot motion and dismissed the entire Hawkins'

case with prejudice. CP 112 The trial court ignored the limiting language

of the settlement agreement and held that it barred Hawkins' claims in this

action. The trial court held that Hawkins' declaratory judgment was

barred by res judicata and also found that it was "questionable, as a matter

of law, whether Plaintiff (Hawkins) had the right to rely on the alleged
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falsifications and misrepresentations." CP 112 Hawkins filed a timely

appeal of this order.

II. ARGUMENT

A. Standard for Review

This Court applies a de novo review to a dismissal under CR

12(b)(6) for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.

Dussault ex rel. Walker-Van Buren v. American Intern. Group, Inc. 123

Wn.App. 863, 866-867, 99 P.3d 1256, 1258 (2004);. Cutler v. Phillips

Petroleum Co.. 124 Wn.2d 749, 755, 881 P.2d 216 (1994).

This Court also reviews questions of law, including the

interpretation of contract provisions, de novo. Sunnyside Valley Irrigation

Dist. v. Dickie. 149 Wn.2d 873, 880, 73 P.3d 369 (2003). The Court will

apply fundamental contract construction rules when interpreting a contract

and to the extent it interprets contract provisions, the de novo standard of

review applies. Cambridge Townhomes, LLC v. Pac. Star Roofing, Inc.,

166 Wn.2d 475, 487, 209 P.3d 863 (2009); Kim v. Moffett, 156 Wn.App.

689, 697, 234 P.3d 279 (2010).

B. Standard for Resolution of CR 12(b)(6) Motions to
Dismiss

20



Washington law is clear that courts should "dismiss a claim under

CR 12(b)(6) only if it appears beyond a reasonable doubt that no facts

exist that would justify recovery." Cutler v. Phillips Petroleum Co. 124

Wn.2d 749, 755, 881 P.2d 216 (1994). Under this rule, a Hawkins's

allegations are presumed to be true, and "a court may consider

hypothetical facts not part of the formal record." Id. CR 12(b)(6) motions

should be granted "sparingly and with care" Id. (quoting Hoffer v. State,

110 Wn.2d 415, 420, 755 P.2d 781 (1988). Such motions should

generally be granted "only in the unusual case in which the Hawkins's

allegations show on the face of the complaint an insuperable bar to relief."

San Juan County v. No New Gas Tax, 160 Wn.2d 141, 164, 157 P.3d 831

(2007).

"Dismissal is warranted only if the court concludes, beyond a

reasonable doubt, the Hawkins cannot prove 'any set of facts which would

justify recovery.' " Kinney v. Cook, 159 Wash.2d 837, 842, 154 P.3d 206

(2007) (quoting Tenore, 136 Wash.2d at 330, 962 P.2d 104). All facts

alleged in the complaint are taken as true, and the Court may consider

hypothetical facts supporting the Hawkins's claim. Id. "Therefore, a

complaint survives a CR 12(b)(6) motion ifany set of facts could exist

that would justify recovery." Hoffer v. State, 110 Wash.2d 415, 420, 755

P.2d 781 (1988) (citing Lawson v. State, 107 Wash.2d 444, 448, 730 P.2d

21



1308 (1986); Bowman v. John Doe Two, 104 Wash.2d 181, 183, 704 P.2d

140(1985))." FutureSelect Portfolio Management, Inc. v. Tremont

Group Holdings, Inc. 180 Wn.2d 954, 962-963, 331 P.3d 29, 34 (2014)

In determining whether a complaint fails to state a claim for relief

under CR 12(b), Washington courts apply a less exacting factual

requirement than the federal courts. While federal courts require facts

demonstrating the "facial plausibility" of a claim, Aschcroft v. Iqbal, 556

U.S. 662, 129 S.Ct. 1937, 1949, 173 L.Ed.2d 868 (2009), a complaint is

factually sufficient in Washington if facts could be established to support

the allegations in the complaint. McCurry v. Chevy Chase Bank, FSB, 169

Wn.2d 96, 101, 233 P.3d 861 (2010). In reviewing and determining the

questions of fact, the Court considers the facts and inferences, both real

and hypothetical, in the light most favorable to the Hawkins. Davenport v.

Washington Educ. Ass'n, 147 Wn.App. 704, 715, 197 P.3d 686,

692 (2008)

The fact that the medical records were falsified is established by

the declaration of Brett M.D. Bishop, an expert documents examiner. It is

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