FILED
July 29, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division I

State of Washington

Case No. 729497-I

# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# JEANNE HAWKINS and JULIE WILSON, *Plaintiffs-Appellants*,

v.

# EMPRES HEALTHCARE MANAGEMENT, LLC f/k/a EVERGREEN HEALTHCARE MANAGEMENT, LLC; and EVERGREEN AT TALBOT ROAD, LLC d/b/a TALBOT CENTER FOR REHABILITATION AND HEALTHCARE

Defendants-Respondents

Appeal relating to King County Superior Court, Case No. 14-2-26963-3 (Judge Chad Allred)

#### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

LINDSAY HART, LLP Michael J. Estok, WSBA #36471 Jay W. Beattie, WSBA # 37160 1300 SW Fifth Avenue, Suite 3400 Portland, Oregon 97201-5640

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

1. The trial court correctly concluded that all of plaintiffs' claims against Talbot were released.

In the trial court, plaintiffs sought rescission of the Settlement Agreement, asserting that the agreement was unenforceable because it was procured by fraud. CP 9 (Petition  $\P$  8.1). On appeal, plaintiffs do not assign error to the dismissal of the rescission claim or argue in any way that the trial

court erred in dismissing that claim<sup>4</sup>. Thus, the rescission claim – including the subsidiary issue of the enforceability of the Settlement Agreement – is not properly before this court. *See* RAP 10.3(a)(4),(6); *Nishikawa v. U.S. Eagle High, L.L.C.*, 138 Wn. App. 841, 853, 158 P.3d 1265 (2007) (refusing to consider dismissal of alternative claim for "issue is not properly before us" where appealing party failed to assign error to a particular trial court decision); *Escude v. King County Pub. Hosp. Dist. No.* 2, 117 Wn. App. 183, 190 n. 4, 69 P.3d 895 (2003) ("It is well settled that a party's failure to assign error to or provide argument and citation to authority in support of an assignment of error, as required under RAP 10.3, precludes appellate consideration of an alleged error.")

Plaintiffs' first assignment of error also assumes that the Settlement Agreement is enforceable and raises only the question of whether the trial court "erred in ruling that the release language of the settlement agreement [] bars Hawkins' claims in this litigation." Appellants' Brief at p. 8.

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Talbot moved to dismiss the rescission claim on various grounds, including plaintiffs' failure to allege their willingness and ability to tender back the amounts they received in settlement. *See Lucas v. Andros*, 185 Wn. 383, 55 P.2d 330 (1936) (noting that the party defrauded must restore, or offer to restore, the consideration which he has received under the contract); *Bunting v. State*, 87 Wn. App. 647, 653-54, 943 P.2d 347, 350 (1997) (requiring party seeking to rescind settlement agreement to return amount paid in settlement).

Accordingly, Talbot will address only the claimed error and not the abandoned rescission claim.<sup>5</sup>

"A release is a contract and its construction is governed by contract principles subject to judicial interpretation in light of the language used." *Nationwide Mut. Fire Ins. Co. v. Watson*, 120 Wn.2d 178, 187, 840 P.2d 851 (1992); *see also Del Rosario v. Del Rosario*, 152 Wn.2d 375, 382, 97 P.3d 11 (2004) ("This court has consistently held that personal injury releases are contracts governed by contract principles"). The interpretation of a Settlement Agreement is a matter of law, where, as here, the meaning of specific words does not (and cannot) depend on extrinsic evidence. *See generally Condon v. Condon*, 177 Wn.2d 150, 162-163, 298 P.3d 86 (2013) (discussing methodology for interpreting settlement agreement).

Here, the Settlement Agreement contains three clauses comprehensively releasing any claims or causes of action, known or unknown, including: (1) any claims which "in any way involved the

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In effect, plaintiffs have elected to affirm the settlement and sue for damages in fraud. *See*, *e.g.*, *Queen City Farms, Inc. v. Central Nat'l Ins. Co.*, 126 Wn.2d 50, 65, 882 P.2d 703, 891 P.2d 718 (1994) ("Under contract law, a material misrepresentation permits the defrauded party to elect from three possible remedies: damages, rescission, or enforcement of the bargain against the fraudulent party according to the fraudulent party's representation of the bargain. *See* 12 Samuel Williston, *Contracts* § 1523, at 606-07 (3d ed. 1970)").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The only extrinsic evidence would be communications made in connection with the mediation, which are privileged under RCW 5.60.070.

diagnoses, care and treatment" of Jeanne Hawkins during her stay at Talbot Center, (2) any claims "which *in any way* arise out of the facts stated [in the underlying complaint]," and (3) any claims "arising out of or *in any way connected with* incidents, injuries or damages" alleged in the underlying complaint or arising out of Jeanne Hawkins' "diagnoses, care and treatment" at Talbot Center. CP 17-18, 21 (emphasis added). On appeal, plaintiffs' focus on the first release clause and argue that it is "narrow" and does not bar the claims alleged in the current complaint. Appellant's Brief at p. 24. Plaintiffs are wrong, and moreover, they entirely fail to explain why their claims are not barred by the other two release clauses.

Plaintiffs' claims in this case are based on the alleged falsification of medical records relating to Jeanne Hawkins' stay at Talbot Center – records documenting her "diagnoses, care and treatment" at the Center and which were created *solely* because Ms. Hawkins was a patient at the Center. Plaintiffs cannot seriously argue that the alleged falsification of records relating to Ms. Hawkins' "diagnoses, care and treatment" does not "*in any way involve*" her "diagnoses, care and treatment" at the Center. The first release clause clearly bars plaintiffs' fraud and misrepresentation claims. *See, e.g., Dresden v. Detroit Macomb Hosp. Corp.*, 218 Mich. App. 292, 297-98, 553 N.W.2d 387, 390 (1996).

In *Dresden*, the decedent presented to the defendant hospital complaining of chest pain. Her chest x-ray was deemed normal. She was discharged but died three days later. Plaintiff filed a medical malpractice lawsuit against defendant and requested a copy of the x-ray. Defendant advised plaintiff that it was unable to find the x-ray after having made a diligent search. Plaintiff eventually settled the lawsuit, signing a release without ever having received a copy of the x-ray. Later, plaintiff became aware that the x-ray may have been intentionally destroyed and brought suit alleging fraud. The trial court dismissed the action based on the language of the settlement and release. The Michigan Court of Appeals affirmed, holding that:

The release specifically mentions all the defendants and includes language releasing the defendants from liability for 'any and all' causes of action that could have been based upon, or could have arisen out of, the medical care rendered to Dresden or in any manner related to Dresden, including liability for damages incurred as a result, and liability for any and all matters and things alleged or that could have been alleged against the defendants in the lawsuit. Plaintiff's claim that the release is silent concerning unknown claims is erroneous, because the release mentions 'any and all' causes of action. The scope of the release was sufficiently broad to bar the fraud claim.

Id.

As in *Dresden*, the first release clause contains language releasing any and all claims arising out of Ms. Hawkins' medical treatment at Talbot Center and similarly operates to bar any claims based on the alleged falsification of medical records. Moreover, the two other release clauses in the Settlement Agreement are even more comprehensive, and the last clause broadly releases any claim "in any way connected with incidents, injuries or damages" alleged in the underlying complaint. There is no question that the current lawsuit arises out of the "incidents" alleged in the underlying complaint, and in fact, the allegedly falsified or omitted medical records were specifically referenced in underlying complaint. CP 63 (Complaint ¶ 4.9). The underlying complaint alleged that "there was no evidence" that Dr. Chen responded to the first lab report on July 14, 2007 (id.) and that Dr. Chen wrote "O.K." on the second lab report dated July 23, 2007. Id. Plaintiffs assert in the current Petition that Dr. Chen did follow-up with Talbot and that Dr. Chen did *not* write "O.K." on the second lab report. CP 6 (Petition  $\P$  4.14). Both "complaints" relate to the same incidents – although the current Petition alleges that plaintiffs' original understanding of those incidents was wrong.

Plaintiffs' current lawsuit also seeks the *same damages* as the underlying lawsuit. The gravamen of plaintiffs' fraud claims is that they were deceived into settling "too low" and that they are entitled to additional

compensation for Jeanne Hawkins' personal injuries – compensation that Ms. Hawkins apparently expected to collect from Dr. Chen and now seeks to recover from Talbot. However, the Settlement Agreement expressly bars any and all claims against Talbot for "injuries or damages," known or unknown, arising out of Jeanne Hawkins' stay at Talbot Center. CP 17. In other words, plaintiffs executed a broad release giving up any and all claims for personal injuries arising out of Jeanne Hawkins' stay at Talbot Center, regardless of the theory of liability and regardless of whether those claims were known at the time of settlement. *See*, *e.g.*, *Kobatake v. E.I. Dupont de Nemours & Co.*, 162 F.3d 619, 623 (11th Cir. 1998).

In *Kobatake*, plaintiffs settled a claim for crop damage caused by defendant's defective fungicide. After settlement, plaintiffs discovered information that led them to believe that defendants acted improperly and fraudulently during the defense of the previous litigation by, among other things, scheming to destroy harmful evidence and presenting perjured testimony. Plaintiffs subsequently filed actions against Dupont alleging fraud, civil conspiracy, spoliation of evidence, violations of the Georgia Fair Business Practices Act, public nuisance, and racketeering. The trial court held that these claims were barred by the general release. The Eleventh Circuit affirmed, holding that if plaintiffs affirmed the settlement, their fraud-based claims were barred:

When "[a] contract provides plainly that it was the intent of the parties to settle and effect a resolution of all claims and disputes of every kind and nature among them...; that it is the entire agreement of the parties; and that they released and waived all claims against each other of any kind whether known or unknown,...no grounds at law or in the contract itself exist to open [it] to jury examination." [citation omitted]. Thus. however egregiously defendants may have behaved during the prior litigation, plaintiffs' execution of such all-encompassing releases prohibits them from suing defendants for that behavior.

### Id. at 624-25 (emphasis added).

Plaintiffs argue that the release in this case was not a general release and was much narrower in scope than the release in *Kobatake* – which even if true, is a distinction without a difference. The Settlement Agreement in this case was a general release in the sense that it released *any and all of plaintiffs' claims for personal injuries arising out of Jeanne Hawkins' stay at Talbot Center* regardless of the theory of liability. As in *Kobatake*, plaintiffs cannot avoid the release by recasting their personal injury claims as claims for fraud and misrepresentation. The parties agreed that the amount paid in settlement was in full release of *any and all claims for the injuries* alleged in the underlying complaint, and the superior court correctly concluded that the Settlement Agreement barred recover for those injuries under the new claims alleged in plaintiffs' Petition.

2. In the alternative, the superior court properly dismissed plaintiffs' fraud and misrepresentation claims because their Petition failed to allege "reliance" as a matter of law.

The superior court held that even if plaintiffs' claims were not barred by the Settlement Agreement, their Petition probably failed to state claims for fraud or intentional misrepresentation. CP 113. To state a claim for fraud or intentional misrepresentation, a plaintiff must plead: (1) a representation of an existing fact; (2) its materiality; (3) its falsity; (4) the speaker's knowledge of its falsity; (5) the intent of the speaker that it should be acted upon by the plaintiff; (6) plaintiff's ignorance of its falsity; (7) plaintiff's reliance on the truth of the representation; (8) plaintiff's right to rely upon it; and (9) damages suffered by the plaintiff. *Stiley v. Block*, 130 Wn.2d 486, 505, 925 P.2d 194, 204 (1996). To recover damages for fraud or intentional misrepresentation, each of these nine elements must be proven by clear, cogent and convincing evidence. *Douglas Northwest, Inc. v. Bill O'Brien & Sons Constr., Inc.*, 64 Wn. App. 661, 678, 828 P.2d 565 (1992).

Here, plaintiffs' Petition fails to allege either reliance or a "right to rely" as a matter of law. Although the Petition alleges that plaintiffs "reasonably relied" on Talbot's alleged misrepresentations concerning its legal liability to Jeanne Hawkins "in negotiating [the] release and settlement of all claims" CP 7-8 (Petition ¶5.1 & 6.1), the Petition also incorporates the Settlement Agreement wherein plaintiffs specifically represented that

they *did not* rely "upon any statement or representation concerning [Talbot's] legal liability" in negotiating the release and settlement. CP 18. In other words, plaintiffs could not have "reasonably relied" on the alleged misrepresentations in negotiating their settlement with Talbot when they represented that they had not relied at all. *See Kwiatkowski v. Drews*, 142 Wn. App. at 463, 481. *See also Rodriguez*, 144 Wn. App. at 714 ("when ruling on a CR 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss an action for failure to state a claim on which relief can be granted, a court is not required to accept as true legal conclusions in the plaintiff's complaint."); *Daniels-Hall v. Nat'l Educ. Ass'n*, 629 F.3d 992 (9th Cir. 2010) ("We are not, however, required to accept as true allegations that contradict exhibits attached to the Complaint or matters properly subject to judicial notice, or allegations that are merely conclusory, unwarranted deductions of fact, or unreasonable inferences.")

In *Kwiatkowski*, plaintiff brought a claim for breach of fiduciary duty against several banks based on their misconduct while acting as his legal guardian. Plaintiff settled with the banks, but before he filed a stipulated order of dismissal, one of his attorneys discovered "new" information pertaining to the banks' failure to fulfill their fiduciary duties to plaintiff. *Id.*, 142 Wn. App. at 472. This information had been omitted from or misrepresented in the documents the banks were required to file in the guardianship proceeding. *Id.* at 480. The banks moved for summary

judgment enforcing the settlement, and plaintiff opposed the motion, contending that the settlement should be rescinded because it was procured by fraud. The trial court granted summary judgment to the banks, and the judgment was affirmed on appeal. On appeal, the court noted that plaintiff had stipulated in the settlement agreement that he *had not* relied on the "representations of any other party" in deciding to execute the settlement. Therefore, *as a matter of* law, plaintiff could not prove reliance – reasonable or otherwise – on the alleged non-disclosures and misrepresentations made in the guardianship proceeding:

Kwiatkowski's fraud, misrepresentation, and equitable estoppel arguments also have no merit. To establish intentional, negligent, or innocent misrepresentation; fraud: estoppel, Kwiatkowski must show that he reasonably or justifiably relied on the truth of the Banks' representations, if any. [citations omitted]. But Kwiatkowski specifically agreed in paragraph five of the settlement agreement that he did not rely on any representations by any other party when settlement negotiating the agreement. Furthermore, as discussed above, any such reliance would have been unreasonable.

*Id.* at 481-82. The court also noted earlier in the opinion that plaintiff could not prove "reasonable reliance" on the banks' court filings in the guardianship matter:

Kwiatkowski cannot assert that he reasonably relied on the Banks' performance of their fiduciary duties [in filing complete and

accurate documents with the court] when whether the Banks breached their fiduciary duties was the very issue being resolved in the adversarial relationship. See Guarino v. Interactive Objects, Inc., 122 Wn. App. 95, 122, 86 P.3d 1175 (2004) (discussing and stating in dicta that it "do[es] not disagree" with conclusion in Mergens v. Dreyfoos, 166 F.3d 1114, 1118 (11th Cir.), cert. denied, 528 U.S. 820 (1999), which held that in the a contentious context of adversarial relationship, reliance on misrepresentations or omissions is unreasonable as a matter of law between the parties negotiating a settlement agreement)."

Id. at 480.

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